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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Turnover
Gross profit margin (%)
Profit attributable to shareholders
EBIT
EBITDA (Note)
Dividends — ordinary shares
Earnings per share — basic (RMB)
Earnings per share — diluted (RMB)
Debt-equity ratio
Dividends payout ratio (%)
Ordinary shares (shares)
Cash and bank balance
Cash per share (RMB)
Total assets
Net asset value
Net asset value per share (RMB)
Inventory turnover days
Debtors turnover days
Creditors turnover days

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

2003
RMB’000

2002
RMB’000

2001
RMB’000

425,767
25%
61,886
73,224
87,921
17,303
0.123
n/a
net cash
position
28%
504,170,946
140,220
0.28
610,210
495,922
0.98
56 days
34 days
22 days

357,218
29%
64,143
74,882
86,662
17,700
0.133
n/a
net cash
position
28%
504,170,946
114,562
0.23
528,283
452,286
0.90
36 days
32 days
14 days

299,720
33%
66,291
76,513
82,324
19,800
0.166
0.166
net cash
position
30%
400,000,000
139,665
0.35
338,224
271,094
0.68
30 days
32 days
16 days

267,310
37%
72,512
73,052
77,224
19,740
0.228
0.228
net cash
position
27%
317,808,219
172,988
0.54
283,936
217,701
0.69
34 days
30 days
19 days

229,263
36%
55,377
56,761
60,138
22,000
0.185
n/a
net cash
position
40%
300,000,000
85,072
0.28
205,056
79,910
0.27
40 days
50 days
32 days

Note : For years 2001 to 2004, depreciation of land use rights has been added back for the purpose of calculating
the EBITDA. Upon the adoption of HKAS 17 Leases in 2005, the land use rights were reclassified as prepaid
lease payments under operating leases. As a result, the operating lease payments in respect of land use right
has not been added back in the calculation of EBITDA for 2005.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
Asia Zirconium Limited (the “Company” or “Asia Zirconium”, together with its subsidiaries the “Group”), was listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 28 October 2002. The Group is the largest
zirconium chemicals manufacturer and exporter in the PRC. Leveraging on its advantages in zirconium chemicals
industry, the Group has extended its business into the production and sale of zirconium-related new energy materials
(used as electrode materials for batteries), electronic ceramic products and rechargeable batteries.
The Group started its operations in 1977 and is based in Yixing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. With over twenty years’
development, the Group has successfully transformed from a small-scale zirconium chemicals plant to an internationally
renowned zirconium chemicals manufacturer with a sizable current annual production capacity of over 40,000 tonnes
of various types of zirconium chemicals, 1,500 tonnes of new energy materials and 25 million pieces / sets of PTC
heating components. In 2004, the Group established a new wholly-owned subsidiary in Yixing which specialised in
the manufacture and sale of rechargeable batteries.
Application of zirconium chemicals increased widely from originally two major usages in conventional sanitary
ceramics and military applications to broad areas in mobile phone components, electronic products, optical fibres,
textiles, paints, ceramics, optical glass, medical and pharmaceutical products, leather goods, paper goods, cosmetic
materials and nuclear power equipment, etc.
The Group’s new energy materials products, including nickel hydroxide, hydrogen-storage alloy powder, and lithium
cobalt oxide, are electrode materials for NiMH, NiCd and Li-ion batteries. Such products are widely used by leading
domestic and overseas battery manufacturers, such as Wuxi Matsushita Battery Co., Ltd. under the Panasonic group
in Japan.
The Group’s products, with “Long Jing” as the registered trademark in the PRC, Japan, US & Hong Kong, has long
been well-received by the international market. Products have been exported to Japan, US and Europe for 27 years,
15 years and 16 years, respectively. In 2001, the Group was accredited by the China Nonferrous Metals Association
as the largest zirconium chemicals exporter in the PRC.
Parallel to the expansion of its business, the Group is also committed to improving operation efficiency and assuring
high product quality. The Group has been awarded both the ISO14001 Environmental Management System Certification
and the ISO9002 Quality System Certification. In 2003, the Group was also accredited as a state key high-tech
enterprise. In addition, a number of the Group’s products were appraised as high-tech products at state and provincial
levels, among which the nanometric zirconium oxide and cerium zirconium compound were rated as Grand New
Products by the state and were classified as “China Torch Programme” items.
Apart from the leading position of the Group in the PRC zirconium chemicals market, the experience and expertise
of its Chairman, Mr. Yang Xin Min, is also highly appraised by the industry. In April 2004, Mr. Yang was elected
by the industry as the Vice Chairman of the newly-established “China Nonferrous Metals Association - Zirconium
and Hafnium Branch” in the PRC. He was also nominated a member of the expert team of the China Zirconium
and Hafnium Institutional Committee for a term of two years. The management talent and industrial expertise of
the Group are therefore widely recognised.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

To shareholders,
On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), it is my pleasure to present the annual results of Asia Zirconium
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2005
(the “Year”).
The consolidated turnover of the Group for the Year increased by 19% over the prior year to approximately RMB426
million with consolidated gross profits recorded a slight growth of 4% to RMB106 million. The profit attributable
to shareholders for the Year dropped by 4% to approximately RMB62 million. The Board recommended the payment
of a final dividend of HK3.3 cents per ordinary share.

REVIEW OF 2005 OPERATIONS
In 2005, benefited from economic growth of European countries, USA and China, the zirconium chemicals market
recorded an increasing demand. However, with the continued shortage in supply of raw materials zircon sand and
the price remained at a relatively high level, the development of the Group and other zirconium chemicals
manufacturers was constrained . Thanks to its leading position in the PRC zirconium market, the competitive edge
in technology and scale of production as well as the good relationship with leading overseas zircon sand suppliers,
the Group still recorded a double-digit growth for its consolidated turnover. The growth of the Group’s consolidated
turnover mainly came from the zirconium compounds segment, followed by increased sales of batteries. The Group
will continue to focus on research and development of new zirconium chemicals and further enhance the product
structure, aim to strengthen the principal businesses, perfect product mix and further enhance the core competitiveness.
At the same time, along with keeping good partnership with existing leading suppliers of raw materials, the Group
also actively seek opportunities to cooperate with other new suppliers. By finding the soonest way of solving the
shortage in raw materials supply, the Group would be able to accelerate the pace of develpment, thus capturing
on the favorable opportunity of the booming zirconium chemicals demand and achieve a growth in both revenue
and profits.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
The businesses of new energy materials and rechargeable batteries achieved a mix result after a year’s cultivation.
While considerable market share was achieved, the products suffered persistent pressure on price due to fierce market
competition. Coupled with adverse factors including the escalating price of raw materials exerted pressure on the
gross profits of the two segments and posed negative impact on the Group’s overall profitability. The impact, however,
has been minimised through tighter supervision of production process and cost control by the management and
continuous improvement of product quality which increased its competitiveness in the market.

FUTURE PROSPECT
Global demand for zirconium is still surging. This is mainly reflected by the utilisation and development of nuclear
power in China and certain developing countries which brought new opportunities of development to the zirconium
industry. Along with the improvement and enhancement of living standard of developing countries, in particular
China, came an uprising demand for oxidised zirconium ceramics such as daily use ceramics, hygienic ceramics,
construction ceramics, electronic ceramics and structural ceramics.
Cosmetic industry still maintained a growth trend. At the same time, zirconium products of the PRC were actively
kept up with the international standard. This, in particular, applied to the Company. The Company has invented a
new product of zirconium carbonate for use in paper manufacture, which is operated in mass production and has
entered the international market. Further, the Company is developing a new type of zirconium carbonate for use
in the catalyst industry (mainly used in processing of exhaust gas of automobiles).
The market of artificial jewelry industry is rapidly shifting from places like Thailand, India and Taiwan to China. Usage
of zirconium in the artificial jewelry industry will be our new source of development and growth in 2006 and the
coming years.
With preparation work done during the past 3 years, electronic ceramic products were fully granted production
permits from the PRC authorities and certifications from the quality and environmental protection organisations, as
well as CE certification for entering the European market. Therefore, electronic ceramics will develop rapidly from
2006 onwards following a several years’ standstill.
The investment in batteries is expected to break away from deficit with almost 2 years’ preparation and cultivation.
It is believed that high temperature NiMH batteries with zirconium additive will bring new contribution to the Group
in the future. Research and development of Li-ion power batteries will be another main focus of development of
the Company in the years to come, which meets the need and direction of new energy development.
It is believed that in the coming 3 years, the Company will expedite in removing itself from the plight of batteries
and electronic ceramics and do its best to realise new growth. As to the zirconium industry, the Company will continue
to focus on refined processing technology of zirconium, further develop high value-added zirconium products and
strive to further enlarge its market share in the zirconium industry so as to establish Asia Zirconium’s brand and
position among domestic counterparts and in global markets.
Yang Xin Min
Chairman
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
INDUSTRY REVIEW
Under the government’s macroeconomic regulation and control, the PRC economy continued to grow steadily and
rapidly in 2005. Domestic demand for zirconium chemical products remains buoyant. With the gradual migration
of the production process of various industries, such as paper industry and man-made diamonds (namely cubical
zirconia) industry, into the PRC, it is expected that the domestic market for zirconium chemicals will expand further
in the coming years. Another demand growth factor is expected to be coming from the nuclear power industry. This
is also indirectly driven by the rapid economic development in the PRC, which led to severe power shortage and
brownouts in many PRC cities. Thus the PRC government is planning for a fivefold increase in its nuclear generating
capacity by 2020, which means the country will need to build more than 20 nuclear power plants. Being a part of
the supply chain in the nuclear power equipment, the zirconium chemicals producers consider such development
as a good prospect for the expansion of the market for their products.
However, the persistent surging of zircon price throughout the year has increased the cost of production remarkably.
As a result, profit margin in zirconium chemicals industry was squeezed to a certain extent as compared to that for
the previous two years. The challenge that we have is that the supply of zircon has been somewhat constrained,
not just because of the delay of certain new zircon mining projects, but also by declining production of some of
the existing zircon producers. It is anticipated that the shortage of zircon in the global market will remain tense for
2006, and probably into 2007 as well. Certain industry specialists forecasted that the high zircon price will sustain
through 2007 and will not decline until 2008. This certainly exerts further cost pressure to the zirconium chemicals
industry.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Notwithstanding the good market for zirconium chemicals in 2005, the expansion of the Company’s zirconium
business was somewhat constrained by the tight supply of zircon. At the beginning of the year, the Company has
reached an annual supply agreement with a leading zircon producer which, to a certain extent, reduced the effect
of the volatile zircon supply and price on the Company’s business. Furthermore, building on prior year’s experience,
the Company continued to enhance its product structure by shifting more resources and capacity to high end
products. This resulted in another year of revenue growth despite the unfavorable factor on the supply side. The
surging price of raw materials not only affected the zirconium business but also brought unfavorable effect to the
new energy materials segment. Continuously rising prices of nickel and cobalt led to an erosion of the profit margin
in this segment. The management has adopted a strategy to reduce the supply to lower margin customers although
this would result in a revenue growth at a rate lower than previously planned. In the long run, the management
will flexibly adjust the production plan of new energy materials in order to achieve a revenue growth with reasonable
profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Battery business established in last year began the commercialised production in 2005. As in the start-up stage of
all other businesses, the battery segment achieved a turnover growth while making a negative contribution to the
Group’s profit. However, the management is glad to report that the Company has successfully developed the NiMH
batteries with zirconium additive for application under high temperature environment. This new technology has
passed the state level examination and has also completed the CE and UL certification for launching of the new
products to the European and US markets. The management expects that the commercialisation of this new type
of battery will contribute positively to both the revenue and profit of the battery business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Turnover Analysis
For the year ended 31 December 2005 (the “Year”), the Group reported a total turnover of RMB425,767,000,
represented a year-to-year growth of 19%. The largest segment, zirconium chemicals, contributed to 85% of total
turnover, while the new energy materials and battery business contributed 11% and 3%, respectively. Notwithstanding
that the Group has successfully opened up new revenue streams, zirconium chemicals business remained as the main
focus of the Group’s development.
Turnover analysis by product category
The charts below are a comparison of the Group’s turnover by product category for the year ended
31 December 2004 and 31 December 2005 and the proportion of turnover for the relevant product categories:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Note 1: “Other zirconium compounds” included potassium zirconium hexafluoride, zirconium sulphate, zirconium acetate, zirconium silicate and
ammonium zirconium hexafluoride, etc.

Total sales of zirconium chemicals increased by 19% or RMB57,903,000 as compared to prior year. This was mainly
resulted from the further enhancement of product mix in the Year, being reflected in the lower percentage of sales
contributed by zirconium oxychloride and higher sales of zirconium oxide as well as zirconium carbonate.
Total turnover of new energy materials was RMB45,439,000, represented a 7% drop from last year. During the Year,
the management flexibly adjusted downwards the production and sales plan of new energy materials so as to
constrain the negative effect of the rising raw materials prices on the overall profitability of the Group. The Company’s
strategy is to maintain a stable market share with a view to achieving a reasonable profit margin.
Battery segment reported a turnover of RMB13,809,000 in the Year, represented 3% of the Group’s total turnover.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Turnover analysis by geographical region
The following charts presented a year-to-year comparison of the 2004 and 2005 turnover in terms of geographical
locations:

Note 2: “Others” included the United Kingdom, Germany, Korea, India, Austria, Lithuania, South Africa, Columbia, Brazil, Turkey, New Zealand and Italy,
etc.

Domestic sales for the Year was approximately RMB188,241,000, represented 44% of total turnover or a 23%
increase from prior year. The increment was partly contributed by zirconium chemicals sale, and to a certain extent
by the sale of all new energy materials and batteries in the domestic market. Sales to Japan dropped by 35% to
RMB39,059,000, whereas the sales to the Netherlands and US markets grew remarkably by 48% and 43%,
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Gross Profit and Gross Margin
Gross profit for the Year increased by 4%, from RMB102,158,000 to RMB106,115,000. Increase in sales of batteries
and new energy materials made a negative contribution to the gross margin, which led to a drop from 29% in 2004
to 25% in 2005. The continuous rise in raw materials prices and the production in the new segments at a level below
full capacity led to the increase in the production costs. Excluding the effect of the new segments, average gross
margin of zirconium chemical products was relatively stable in 2005 and remained at a level similar to prior year.

Capital Expenditure
The capital expenditures for the year ended 31 December 2005 and 2004 were approximately RMB39,652,000 and
RMB164,514,000, respectively. Capital expenditure dropped by 76% in 2005 mainly because most of the large scale
construction and capital expansion projects had been completed in 2004.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group continued to be cash positive in 2005. As at 31 December 2005, the Group’s cash and bank balances
were approximately RMB140,220,000. (2004: RMB114,562,000). The Group continued to maintain a strong and
healthy financial structure. Other than certain trust receipt loans grouped under trade and bill payables in the financial
statements of the Year, the Group had no other short-term or long-term borrowings as at the end of year 2004
and 2005.
The Group’s trade receivables turnover increased slightly from 32 days in 2004 to approximately 34 days in 2005.
This was mainly due to the credit period granted to new energy materials and batteries customers were normally
longer in accordance with the industry practice. Nevertheless, the Group have not experienced significant bad debt
problems and continued to maintain a healthy record of trade receivables turnover.
With the inventory balance as at 31 December 2005 increased by approximately 1.1 times, the inventory turnover
days increased from 36 days to 56 days.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through currency exposures in sales and purchases that are
denominated in United State Dollars (“USD”) with respect of RMB which is the Group’s functional currency. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities. It is the Group’s policy
that it will not engage in any speculative activities. During the Year, the Group has not engaged in any hedging
transactions.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2005, the Group had no contingent liabilities.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2005, the Group did not pledge any assets (2004: Nil) as securities for the banking facilities
granted by its bankers.

Human Resources
As at 31 December 2005, the Group had a total of approximately 680 employees (2004: 720 employees). Total staff
c o s t s ( i n c l u d i n g d i r e c t o r s ’ e m o l u m e n t s ) f o r t h e Ye a r w a s a p p r o x i m a t e l y R M B 1 8 , 5 3 4 , 0 0 0
(2004: RMB17,124,000), representing 4% of the Group’s turnover (2004: 5%). Employees were remunerated based
on their performance, experience and prevailing industry practice. Bonuses and rewards might also be awarded based
on individual staff performance and in accordance with the Group’s overall remuneration policies. The Group’s
management reviewed the remuneration policies and packages on a regular basis.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yang Xin Min （楊新民）, aged 56, senior economist, is the founding Chairman, Managing Director and
controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Yang graduated from the Beijing Economics Correspondence College.
Since August 1977, Mr. Yang has been the General Manager of all predecessor entities of the Group. Mr. Yang has
almost 30 years of experience in the research, production management and international market development of
zirconium chemicals. Mr. Yang is responsible for the formulation of the Group’s overall business strategies and
overseeing the daily operations of the Group.
Ms. Huang Yue Qin（黃月琴）, aged 37, senior economist, is the Manager of the Sales, Purchasing and Marketing
Departments of the Group. Ms. Huang joined the Group in 1991 and has accumulated more than 10 years of import
and export experience in the zirconium chemicals industry. Ms. Huang has frequently visited clients in the USA, Japan
and Europe, and maintained very good relationship with the Group’s overseas customers.
Mr. Zhou Quan（周全）, aged 47, joined the Group in 1993. Mr. Zhou is the assistant to the General Manager of
the Group, assisting the Chairman in the overall management of the Group. Mr. Zhou has extensive experience in
the production supervision of zirconium products and business administration.
Mr. Li Fu Ping（李福平）, aged 36, senior economist, is the Deputy General Manager of the Group. Mr. Li graduated
from the Jiangsu Institution of Chemistry, where he majored in business administration, and was the chairman of
the student union of the university. Since joining the Group in 1992, he has engaged in business administration and
has been the secretary to the General Manager of the Group. As such, Mr. Li has accumulated extensive experience
in business administration. He is a key member of the Group’s internal audit committee for ISO9002 quality assurance
accreditation and is in charge of the ISO14001 environmental management systems.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary（鄭發丁）, aged 37, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company in November 2001. Mr. Cheng is a professional accountant in both Hong Kong and the USA. Mr. Cheng
received his Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration (Honours) and Master’s degree of Business Administration
from Southern Illinois University at Carbondale, the USA, in 1992 and 1994 respectively. Mr. Cheng has worked at
the international accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers and has extensive experience in auditing and accounting,
in particular, in financial institutions. He is currently the principal of Gary Cheng & Co., C.P.A.
Mr. Guo Jing Mao（郭靖茂）, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
in October 2000. Mr. Guo is a retired first-generation expert in zirconium elements. Mr. Guo graduated from Beijing
Science and Technology University and specialised in the research on zirconium and other alloy. Mr. Guo has been
a senior engineer at the China Nonferrous Metals Association for 13 years before his retirement in 1999.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Shi You Chun（史有春）, aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
in September 2004. Mr. Shi joined Nanjing University in 1982 and is currently an associate professor of the School
of Business at Nanjing University and a tutor of master degree students. Mr. Shi graduated with a bachelor degree
from the Department of Management Science at Fudan University. He has in the past few years conducted researches
and analyses in the areas of sales and marketing, and public relations. He also has expertise in strategic planning,
and design and promotion of corporate image. Mr. Shi has published a number of books, dissertations and articles
in relation to the abovementioned areas. He was previously the member of China Industrial Economics Association
（中國工業經濟學會）, Jiangsu Province Hi-Tech Research Association（江蘇省高新科技研究會）and China Marketing
Research Association（中國市場研究協會）.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ms. Li Mei Kuen （李美娟）, aged 37, is the Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the Group. Ms. Li
graduated from La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia and received a bachelor degree in commerce (accounting).
She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia. Before joining the
Group, Ms. Li has worked in two international accounting firms for over 9 years. She has been actively involved
in the audit, listing and due diligence engagements of companies in various industries and has extensive experience
in auditing and finance.
Ms. Sun Hong Di（孫紅娣）, aged 38, is the Head of the Technology and Quality Control Department of the Group.
Ms. Sun joined the Group in 1990 and has been responsible for quality control, analysis and monitoring of zirconium
chemicals. Ms. Sun has been involved in devising the national quality standards for zirconium chemical products with
the former Ministry of Chemical Industry of the PRC. Ms. Sun was the leader of the Group’s working team for the
ISO9002 accreditation.
Mr. Liu Hong Bing（劉宏兵）, aged 31, is the deputy general manager of Better Batteries. Mr. Liu graduated from
the School of Material Science and Engineering in Central South University (中南大學) and obtained a bachelor degree
in engineering. From 1998 to 2002, Mr. Liu worked in a renowned PRC battery manufacturer and held the positions
of process technique researcher in the central research division, supervisor in materials evaluation and supervisor in
the production technology of NiCd and NiMH batteries under the technology division. After that, he studied in and
obtained his MPhil degree from the Department of Chemical Engineering of Tsinghua University (清華大學). Mr. Liu
joined the Company in 2005. He has extensive knowledge and solid experience in the principal technology and
production technique of NiCd, NiMH and Li-ion batteries.
Ms. Wu Xi Wei（吳夕瑋）, aged 37, graduated from Jiangsu Television University majoring in international trade
and economics. Since joining the Group in 1991, Ms. Wu has been responsible for the financial function of the Group,
and is currently the Finance Manager of Yixing Zirconium. She has extensive experience in financial management
and has maintained good relationships with local and national tax authorities, customs departments, commodity
inspection authorities, foreign exchange control authorities and various banks.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
The Company believes that corporate governance is essential to the success of the Company and has adopted various
measures to ensure that a high standard of corporate governance is maintained.
With effect from 1 January 2005, the Company has applied the principles and complied with the requirements of
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code on CGP”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
except for the deviation in respect of the appointment of the same person as the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”) of the Company. The current practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest
practices in corporate governance.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition
The Board is responsible for supervision of the management of the business and affairs, approval of strategic plans
and reviewing of financial performance. The Board currently consists of four Executive Directors and three Independent
Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”):
Executive Directors

:

Mr. Yang Xin Min (Chairman)
Ms. Huang Yue Qin
Mr. Zhou Quan
Mr. Li Fu Ping

INEDs

:

Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
Mr. Guo Jing Mao
Mr. Shi You Chun

The Board membership is covered by professionally qualified and widely experienced personnel so as to bringing
in valuable contribution and different professional advices and consultancy for the development of the Company.
The number of INEDs exceeds one-third of the Board membership.
Biographies of all Directors are set out on pages 13 to 14.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Code provision A.4.1 of the Code on CGP stipulates that non-executive Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election.
Code provision A.4.2 of the Code on CGP stipulates that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be
subject to election by Shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment. Every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Each of the INEDs, except for Mr. Shi You Chun, has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
term of three years. Mr. Shi You Chun has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term of
two years. At every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding one-third shall retire from office.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
A Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition shall hold office until the next annual
general meeting.
In order to ensure full compliance with Code provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2, special resolutions will be proposed to amend
the Articles of Association at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 19 May 2006 so that every Director appointed
by the Board during the year shall retire at the next general meeting and every Director shall be subject to retirement
at least once every three years.

Role and Function
Save for the Board meetings held between the Executive Directors during the normal course of business, the Board
conducted at least four regular Board meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such Board meetings
involve active participation, either in person or through other electronic means of communication, of a majority of
Directors. During the Year, four full board meetings were held and the attendance of each Director is set out as
follows:
Directors

No. of meetings attended

Mr. Yang Xin Min
Ms. Huang Yue Qin
Mr. Zhou Quan
Mr. Li Fu Ping
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
Mr. Guo Jing Mao
Mr. Shi You Chun

4
4
4
4
4
4
3

/
/
/
/
/
/
/

4
4
4
4
4
4
4

INEDs
The Company has appointed three INEDs, of whom Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary possesses recognised accounting
professional qualifications in both Hong Kong and the United States.
The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.

Chairman and CEO
Under the Code on CGP, the roles of Chairman and CEO should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing. Mr. Yang
Xin Min has been the Chairman and the CEO of the Company since its incorporation and is in charge of the overall
management of the Company and the Group. The Company considers that the combination of the roles of Chairman
and CEO is conducive to strong and consistent leadership and can promote the efficient formulation and implementation
of the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to grasp business opportunities efficiently and promptly.
The Company considers that through the supervision of its Board and its INEDs, a balancing mechanism between
the Board and the management of the Company exists so that the interests of the shareholders are adequately and
fairly represented.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
There are three committees established under the Board:

(a)

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee, comprises all INEDs of the Company, is chaired by Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary who is
a professional accountant and has proven experience in audit, finance and accounting.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee follow the guidelines set out by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and have been updated on terms no less exacting than those set out in the
Code on CGP. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to ensure the objectivity and credibility of
financial reporting and internal control procedures as well as to maintain an appropriate relationship with
the external auditors of the Company. Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the
external auditors and all senior staff of the Group.
The Audit Committee met twice in the Year, in particular, to review and discuss:
—

the interim results and annual audited financial statements;

—

the auditing and financial reporting matters, including the management letter from the external
auditors in relation to the audit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2004;

—

the appointment of external auditors; and

—

the effectiveness of internal control procedures.

All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been addressed by the management of the Company. The work
and findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to the Board. During the Year, no issues brought
to the attention of the management of the Company were of sufficient importance to require disclosure in
the Annual Report.
The Board agrees with the Audit Committee’s proposal for the re-appointment of RSM Nelson Wheeler as
the Company’s external auditors for 2006. The recommendation will be put forward for the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 19 May 2006.
Full minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary. Draft and final versions
of minutes of the Audit Committee meetings will be sent to all members of the Audit Committee for their
comment and record respectively.
During 2005, RSM Nelson Wheeler, the Company’s external auditors, received approximately RMB468,000 for
annual audit service, and approximately RMB9,150 for other non-audit services (taxation services).
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(b)

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of the Chairman and two INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
members for the Year were:
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary (Chairman)
Mr. Shi You Chun
Mr. Yang Xin Min
The Company formulated written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee based on terms no less
exacting than the required standard as set out in the Code on CGP. The Remuneration Committee is responsible
for ensuring formal and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and overseeing the
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and senior management. It takes into consideration on
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of Directors and
senior management. The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. The Remuneration Committee
had reviewed the remuneration packages of all Directors and made recommendation to the Board during the
Year.

(c)

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of all INEDs of the Company, chaired by Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary. The
Company formulated written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee based on terms no less exacting
than the required standard as set out in the Code on CGP.
The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year and its primary roles and functions are to assess and
recommend the appointment and re-appointment of Directors to the Board, as well as overseeing the
appointment, management succession planning and performance evaluation of key senior management of
the Company.
The Nomination Committee met once in the Year. It has reviewed and is of the opinion that the current size
and composition of the Board is adequate to facilitate effective decision-making. The Nomination Committee
is also satisfied that the Board comprises directors, who, as a group, provide the core competencies necessary
to guide the Group.
A proposal for the appointment of a new Director will be considered and reviewed by the Nomination
Committee. Candidates to be selected and recommended are those experienced, high calibre individuals. All
candidates must be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules.
A candidates who is to be appointed as an INED should also meet the independence criteria as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Attendance Record at Board Committee Meetings
The following table shows the attendance of Directors at the Board Committee meetings during the Year:

Directors
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Yang Xin Min
Cheng Faat Ting Gary
Guo Jing Mao
Shi You Chun

Audit
Committee
N
2
2
1

/
/
/
/

A
2
2
2

No. of meetings attended
Remuneration
Nomination
Committee
Committee
1
1
N
1

/
/
/
/

1
1
A
1

N
1
1
1

/
/
/
/

A
1
1
1
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted a code of conduct rules (the “Code of Conduct”) regarding securities transactions by
Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirms that all the Directors have complied with
the required standard set out in the Code of Conduct and the Model Code throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements for each financial period, which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. The
Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Group’s financial
statements is set out in the Auditors’ Report on page 28.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s system of internal controls. However, such a system is designed
to manage the Group’s risks within an acceptable risk profile, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure and to achieve
the business objectives of the Group. Accordingly, it can only provide reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement of management and financial information and records or against financial losses or
fraud. The Board is of the view that the system of internal controls in place for the Year and up to the date of issuance
of the annual report and financial statements is sound and is sufficient to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
customers and employees, and the Group’s assets.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
The Board recognises the importance of good communications with all shareholders. The Company’s annual general
meeting is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with the shareholders. The Chairmans of the
Board, of the Audit Committee and of the Remuneration Committee are present to answer shareholders’ questions.
An annual general meeting circular is distributed to all shareholders at least 21 days before the annual general
meeting. It sets out the procedures for demanding and conducting a poll and other relevant information of the
proposed resolutions.
A key element of effective communication with shareholders and investors is the prompt and timely dissemination
of information in relation to the Group. The Company has announced its annual and interim results in a timely manner.
Printed copies of the Annual Report 2004 and Interim Report 2005 are sent to all shareholders.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Group is principally engaged in the research, development, manufacture and sale of a wide range of zirconium
chemicals, electronic materials (with zirconium), electronic ceramics, new energy materials and rechargeable batteries.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2005 (the “Year”) are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 29.
The Board has recommended payment of a final dividend of HK3.3 cents per ordinary share for the Year.
In the event that the resolution on the proposed payment of the final dividend for ordinary share is passed at the
annual general meeting to be held on 19 May 2006, such dividend will be paid on 26 May 2006 to shareholders
whose names appear in the register of members of the Company on 19 May 2006.
The register of members of the Company will be closed from 17 May 2006 to 19 May 2006, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend and to attend and vote at the Company’s annual general meeting to be held on 19 May 2006, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Branch
Registrar in Hong Kong, Tengis Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration by no later than 4:30 p.m. on 16 May 2006.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 4.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company during the Year are set
out in note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year are set out in note 24 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the Year are set out in statement of
changes in equity on pages 32 to 34.
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DISTRIBUATABLE RESERVES
Pursuant to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles of association, in addition to the
retained profits of the Company, the ordinary share premium account of the Company is also available for distribution
to shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business immediately following the date on which any such distribution is proposed to be paid. Accordingly, the
Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2005 amounted to approximately
RMB141,301,000 (2004: RMB164,147,000).

GROUP STRUCTURE
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DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the year and as at the date of this report are shown below. Their biographies
are set out on pages 13 to 14.

Executive Directors
Mr. Yang Xin Min, Chairman and Managing Director
Ms. Huang Yue Qin
Mr. Zhou Quan
Mr. Li Fu Ping

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
Mr. Guo Jing Mao
Mr. Shi You Chun
Each of the above Directors, except for Mr. Shi You Chun, has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial term of three years. Mr. Shi You Chun has entered into a service contract with the Company for an
initial term of two years. Each service contract will continue thereafter unless terminated by either party thereto giving
to the other at least three months’ notice in writing.
The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors a confirmation letter of his
independence pursuant to paragraph 12B of Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules and considers each of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors is independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
As at 31 December 2005, the interests of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the equity or
debt securities and underlying shares of the Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the
Director is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:
Name of
Director

Capacity

Nature of
Interest

Yang Xin Min

Beneficial

Personal

Number of Shares

Percentage of
Total Share Capital

316,794,946

62.83%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
As at 31 December 2005, so far as was known to the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, the following
persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or short position in the shares
and underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
member of the Group.

Name of Shareholder
Yang Xin Min

Number of Shares

Percentage of
Total Share Capital

316,794,946

62.83%

41,516,000

8.23%

Value Partners Limited

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors had any interest, either direct or indirect, in any business, which may compete or constitute
a competition with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
None of the Directors of the Company had a material interest, either direct or indirect, in any significant contract
to which the Company or its holding companies or any of its subsidiaries was a party at the Year end or during
the Year.
At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED PURSUANT TO THE SHARE OPTION
SCHEME
Pursuant to the written resolution by the shareholders of the Company on 24 September 2002, the Share Option
Scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved and adopted and, the Board may, at its discretion, grant options (the
“Options”) to Eligible Persons as defined in (ii) below. The Scheme will expire on 23 September 2012.
(i)

Purpose
The purpose of the Scheme is to advance the interests of the Company and its shareholders by enabling the
Company to grant Options to attract, retain and reward the Eligible Persons, to provide to the Eligible Persons
a performance incentive for continued and improved services with the Company and its subsidiaries, and to
enhance such persons’ contribution to increase the profits by encouraging capital accumulation and share
ownership.

(ii)

Eligible Persons
Any Director (whether executive or non-executive and whether independent or not), any employee (whether
full-time or part-time), any consultant or adviser of or to the Company or the Group (whether on an
employment or contractual or honorary basis and whether paid or unpaid).

(iii)

(iv)

Maximum number of shares
(a)

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of approval of the Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme shall not be counted for the purpose of counting
the Scheme Mandate Limit.

(b)

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
must not exceed in aggregate 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time (“Overall Scheme Limit”).
No Options may be granted under any schemes of the Company (or its subsidiaries) if such grant will
result in the Overall Scheme Limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person
The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted to such Eligible
Person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the Shares of the Company in issue (the “Individual Limit”) at such time. Any further grant of Options
in excess of the Individual Limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company and
certain requirements as stipulated in the terms of the Scheme.
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(v)

Timing for exercise of Options
An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Board to the Option holder but may not be exercised after the expiry of ten
years from the date on which the Option was granted.

(vi)

Offer acceptance period and Option price
The Options must be accepted within 28 days from the date of grant, and the grantee must pay a nonremittable amount of HK$1.00 to the company for each acceptance of grant.

(vii)

Subscription price
Pursuant to the Scheme, the subscription price shall be such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine at the time of the grant of the relevant Option but in any case the subscription price must be at
least the highest of (i) closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

No Options have been granted under the Scheme during the Year and there were no outstanding Options as at the
beginning and at the end of the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The following connected transactions have been carried out by the Group during the Year:

Trademark
Pursuant to the trademark licensing agreement dated 12th July 2000 entered into between Jiangsu Xinxing Chemicals
Group Corp. (“Xinxing Chemicals Group”) and Yixing Xinxing Zirconium Co., Ltd. (“Yixing Zirconium”), Xinxing
Chemicals Group has agreed to grant an exclusive license to Yixing Zirconium or the Group to use the “Long Jing”
trademarks in the PRC, the USA and Japan respectively, during their respective legally valid periods at nil consideration.
Xinxing Chemicals Group is beneficially owned by Mr. Yang Xin Min, and Yixing Zirconium is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the trademark licensing agreement
constitutes a connected transaction pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) upon the listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.
This transaction falls within the de minimis provision under Rule 14.24(5) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, upon
the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange, the trademark licensing agreement will not be subject
to disclosure or shareholders’ approval requirements.
Save as disclosed above, no other transactions were required to be disclosed as connected transactions pursuant
to the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of corporate governance practices. Information on
the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 15 to 19.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2005, the aggregate turnover attributable to the largest customer and the five
largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 12% and 44% of the Group’s total turnover for the
Year respectively; and the aggregate purchases from the largest and the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for approximately 19% and 57% of the Group’s total purchases for the Year respectively.
As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors of the Company, their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules), and the existing shareholders of the Company who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, had any interests in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers at any time during the Year.

RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Companies Ordinance requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Such financial
statements should give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at the balance
sheet date of a particular year and on the profit and loss of the Company and the Group for the year then ended.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors should:
(a)

select and apply consistently appropriate accounting policies, make prudent, fair and reasonable judgement
and estimation;

(b)

report the reasons for any seriously deviation from accounting practice; and

(c)

prepare the financial statements on going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to assume the Company
and the Group could continue to operate.

The Directors are responsible for the proper keeping of accounting record in order to secure assets of the Company
and the Group. The Directors are also responsible for adopting reasonable measures to prevent and check any
fraudulences and irregularities.

DONATIONS
For the year ended 31 December 2005, the Group has made donations of RMB50,000 to charitable organisations
in the PRC.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
The is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of its Directors as
at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float
as required under the Listing Rules during the Year.

POST BALANCE SHEET DATE EVENT
There was no significant post balance sheet date event for the Year.

AUDITORS
RSM Nelson Wheeler retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of RSM Nelson Wheeler as the Company’s auditors is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
By order of the Board
Huang Yue Qin
Executive Director
10 April 2006
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To the SHAREHOLDERS of
ASIA ZIRCONIUM LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
We have audited the financial statements on pages 29 to 65 which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view.
In preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently, that judgements and estimates are made which are prudent and
reasonable and that the reasons for any significant departure from applicable accounting standards are stated.
It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Basis of opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and of the Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of
the presentation of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2005 and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
RSM Nelson Wheeler
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
10 April 2006
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For the year ended 31 December 2005

Notes

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

4

425,767

357,218

Cost of sales

(319,652)

(255,060)

Gross profit

106,115

102,158

Turnover

Other revenue
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

4

2,320
(10,332)
(18,214)
(6,665)

2,771
(10,566)
(17,481)
(2,000)

Profit from operations
Finance costs

5
6

73,224
(557)

74,882
(114)

72,667

74,768

Profit before taxation
Taxation

7

(10,781)

(10,625)

Profit for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company

8

61,886

64,143

Dividends

9

17,303

17,700

Earnings per share - basic (RMB)

10

12.3 cents

13.3 cents

Earnings per share - diluted (RMB)

10

N/A

N/A

The notes on pages 36 to 65 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2005

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000
(Restated)

245,785
54,946
2,100
—
15,251

222,332
56,148
3,500
2,838
14,512

318,082

299,330

65,721
42,464
43,723
140,220

32,016
37,085
45,290
114,562

292,128

228,953

30,041
41,525
42,722

27,289
10,765
37,943

114,288

75,997

Net current assets

177,840

152,956

Total assets less current liabilities

495,922

452,286

53,529
208,737
233,656

53,529
212,375
186,382

495,922

452,286

Notes
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land use rights
Intangible assets
Deferred payment on employment contracts
Prepayments and deposits

13
14
15
16

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

18
19
20
21

Current liabilities
Tax payable
Trade and bill payables
Accruals and other payables

7(a)
22
23

Financed by:
Share capital
Other reserves
Retained profits

24

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Approved by the Board of Directors on 10 April 2006
YANG Xin Min
Director

ZHOU Quan
Director

The notes on pages 36 to 65 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2005

Notes

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

17

169,633

102,515

20

26,280
144

108,342
7,822

26,424

116,164

1,227

783

25,197

115,381

194,830

217,896

53,529
141,301

53,529
164,367

194,830

217,896

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Current assets
Other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables

23

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Financed by:
Share capital
Reserves

24

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Approved by the Board of Directors on 10 April 2006

YANG Xin Min
Director

ZHOU Quan
Director

The notes on pages 36 to 65 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2005

The Group
Reserves
Share
capital
RMB’000
As at 1 January 2004
Issue of shares upon placing
Issue of shares upon
acquisition of a thermal
power plant
Exercise of share options
Share issuing expenses
Profit for the year
Transfer to statutory reserves
Dividends paid
Translation differences
As at 31 December 2004

42,450

Merger
reserve
(Note a)
RMB’000
(11,085)

RMB’000

Reserve
fund
(Note b)
RMB’000

Enterprise
expansion
fund
(Note b)
RMB’000

Staff
welfare
fund
(Note b)
RMB’000

61,685

20,557

10,278

10,278

—

—

—

Share
premium

Exchange
reserve

Retained
profits

Total

RMB’000

RMB’000

RMB’000

137,059

271,094

—

58,488

(128 )

4,999

—

53,489

5,868
212
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

72,176
1,634
(1,378 )
—
—
(19,733 )
—

—
—
—
—
7,410
—
—

—
—
—
—
3,705
—
—

—
—
—
—
3,705
—
—

(264 )
—
—
—
—
—
46

—
—
—
64,143
(14,820)
—
—

77,780
1,846
(1,378)
64,143
—
(19,733)
46

167,873

27,967

13,983

13,983

(346 )

186,382

452,286

167,873

27,967

13,983

13,983

(346 )

186,382

452,286

—
—
(17,700 )
—

—
7,306
—
—

—
3,653
—
—

—
3,653
—
—

—
—
—
(550 )

61,886
(14,612)
—
—

61,886
—
(17,700)
(550 )

150,173

35,273

17,636

17,636

(896 )

233,656

495,922

53,529

(11,085)

—

Representing:
2004 final dividend
Others

17,700
150,173
167,873

As at 1 January 2005
Profit for the year
Transfer to statutory reserves
Dividend paid
Translation differences
As at 31 December 2005
Representing:
2005 final dividend proposed
Others

53,529
—
—
—
—
53,529

(11,085)
—
—
—
—
(11,085)

17,303
132,870
150,173

The notes on pages 36 to 65 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2005

The Company
Reserves

As at 1 January 2004
Issue of shares upon placing
Issue of shares upon acquisition
of a thermal power plant
Exercise of share options
Shares issuing expenses
Loss for the year
Dividend paid
Translation differences
As at 31 December 2004

Share
capital
RMB’000

Share
premium
RMB’000

Exchange
reserve
RMB’000

42,450

61,685

336

4,999

53,489

—

5,868
212
—
—
—
—

72,176
1,634
(1,378)
—
(19,733)
—

(264)
—
—
—
—
148

—
—
—
(2,912)
—
—

77,780
1,846
(1,378)
(2,912)
(19,733)
148

53,529

167,873

220

(3,726)

217,896

220

(3,726)

217,896

Representing:
2004 final dividend
Others

Accumulated
losses
RMB’000
(814)
—

Total
RMB’000
103,657
58,488

17,700
150,173
167,873

As at 1 January 2005

53,529

167,873

Loss for the year
Dividend paid
Translation differences

—
—
—

—
(17,700)
—

—
—
(3,608)

(1,758)
—
—

(1,758)
(17,700)
(3,608)

53,529

150,173

(3,388)

(5,484)

194,830

As at 31 December 2005
Representing:
2005 final dividend proposed
Others

17,303
132,870
150,173

The notes on pages 36 to 65 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Note:
(a)

Merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the
Company in exchange for the nominal amount of the share capital of its subsidiaries at the date when those subsidiaries
became member of the Group.

(b)

Two subsidiaries of the Group established in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), being foreign investment enterprises,
are required to appropriate an amount from the net profit reported in the statutory accounts to three statutory reserves,
namely reserve fund, enterprise expansion fund and staff welfare fund. All these funds are designated for specific purposes.
The reserve fund can only be utilised, with the approval from the relevant authorities, to offset accumulative losses or
to increase capital. All foreign-owned and sino-foreign enterprises are generally required to appropriate not less than 10%
of their net profit after taxation to the reserve fund, until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of the registered capital
of the relevant subsidiary. The reserve fund cannot be distributed in form of cash.
The enterprise expansion fund can only be utilised to increase capital, with the approval from the relevant authorities.
The boards of directors of the subsidiaries have resolved to appropriate 5% of the net profit to the enterprise expansion
fund.
The staff welfare fund can only be utilised for the benefits of the employees. The boards of directors of the subsidiaries
have resolved to appropriate 5% of their net profits to staff welfare fund.

The notes on pages 36 to 65 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2005

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000
(Restated)

72,667

74,768

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Write off of intangible assets
Write off of deferred expenses
Impairment loss of machinery and equipment
Interest expenses
Bank interest income

13,697
1,000
400
1,577
2,500
557
(417)

9,618
1,000
—
—
—
114
(344)

91,981
1,202
—
(33,705)
(3,812)
43,970
(7,220)

85,156
1,162
(2,838)
(13,478)
(39,800)
9,559
—

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Interest received
PRC income tax paid

92,416
(557)
417
(8,029)

39,761
(114)
344
(8,964)

Net cash from operating activities

84,247

31,027

Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Deposits paid for acquisition of plant and machineries
Receipt of held-to-maturity security
Refund of deferred expenses

(27,998)
(13,604)
—
1,261

(86,734)
(10,870)
1,064
—

Net cash used in investing activities

(40,341)

(96,540)

Proceeds from issuance of shares upon placing
Proceeds from issuance of shares upon exercising share options
Share issuance expenses
Advance from a related company
Dividend paid

—
—
—
—
(17,700)

58,488
1,846
(1,378)
1,138
(19,733)

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from financing activities

(17,700)

40,361

26,206

(25,152)

114,562

139,665

Operating profit before working capital changes
Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payment
Increase in deferred payment on employment contracts
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Prepayment related with acquisition of land use rights

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY
Translation differences
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER
Cash and bank balances

The notes on pages 36 to 65 form an integral part of these financial statements.

(548)
140,220

49
114,562
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2005

1.

BACKGROUND OF THE COMPANY
Asia Zirconium Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The Company was listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 28 October 2002.
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 17
to the financial statements. The principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong was located at Room
3509, 35th Floor, Tower Two, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway, Hong Kong.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in
note 32.

The adoption of new / revised HKFRSs
In 2005, the Group adopted all the new/revised standards and interpretations of HKFRSs below, which are
relevant to its operations. The comparatives have been amended as required, in accordance with the relevant
requirements.
HKAS 1
HKAS 2
HKAS 7
HKAS 8
HKAS 10
HKAS 16
HKAS 17
HKAS 21
HKAS 23
HKAS 24
HKAS 27
HKAS 32
HKAS 33
HKAS 36
HKAS 38
HKAS 39
HKFRS 2
HKFRS 3

Presentation of Financial Statements
Inventories
Cash Flow Statements
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Property, Plant and Equipment
Leases
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
Borrowing costs
Related Party Disclosures
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Financial Instruments: Disclosures and Presentation
Earnings Per Share
Impairment of Assets
Intangible Assets
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Share-based Payments
Business Combinations
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2005

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The adoption of new / revised HKFRSs

(continued)

(continued)

The adoption of new/revised HKASs 1, 2, 7, 8, 10, 16, 21, 23, 27, 32, 33, 36, 38, 39 and HKFRS 3 did not
result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies.
In summary:
—

HKAS 1 has affected the presentation and disclosure of financial statements.

—

HKASs 2, 7, 8, 10, 16, 21, 23, 27, 32, 33, 36, 38, 39 and HKFRS 3 had no material effect on the
Group’s accounting policies.

HKAS 17 - Leases
The Group has land use rights in the People’s Republic of China other than Hong Kong (the “PRC”), with
self-constructed buildings erected on them for manufacturing purposes. In previous years, these property
interests were classified as property, plant and equipment. In accordance with HKAS 17 the land use rights
are classified as prepaid lease payments under operating leases, and are carried at cost and amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. This change in accounting policy has had no effect on the Group’s
previously reported consolidated income statements and retained profits.
HKAS 24 - Related party disclosures
As a result of the adoption of HKAS 24, the definition of related parties as disclosed in note 3(c) has been
expanded to clarify that related parties include entities that are under the significant influence of a related
party that is an individual (i.e. key management personnel, significant shareholders and / or their close family
members) and post-employment benefit plans which are for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group. The clarification of the definition of related parties has not resulted
in any material changes to the previously reported disclosures of related party transactions nor has it had any
material effect on the disclosures made in the current period, as compared to those that would have been
reported had SSAP 20, Related party disclosures, still been in effect.
HKFRS 2 - Share-based payments
With effect from 1 January 2005, in order to comply with HKFRS 2, the Group has adopted a new policy
for employee share options. Under the new policy, the Group recognises the fair value of such share options
as an expense with a corresponding increase recognised in a capital reserve within equity. Further details of
the new policy are set out in note 3(q).
The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provisions set out in HKFRS 2, under which the new
recognition and measurement policies have not been applied to the following grants of options:
(a)

all options granted to employees on or before 7 November 2002; and

(b)

all options granted to employees after 7 November 2002 but which had vested before 1 January 2005.

This change in accounting policy has had no effect on the Group’s previously reported consolidated income
statements and retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2005

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The adoption of new / revised HKFRSs

(continued)

(continued)

The Group has not applied the following new standards or interpretations that have been issued but are not
yet effective. The application of these standards or interpretations will not have material impact on the financial
statements of the Group.
HKFRS
HKFRS
HKFRS
HKFRS

6
7
Int 4
Int 5

HKFRS Int 6
HKAS 1 (Amendment)
HKAS 19 (Amendment)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 4 (Amendment)

3.

Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources
Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental
Rehabilitation Funds
Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market - Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment
Capital Disclosures
Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures
Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions
The Fair Value Option
Financial Guarantee Contracts

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below:

(a)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 December.
All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

(b)

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than
one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.
In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for
impairment losses, if necessary. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2005

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(c)

(continued)

Related parties
Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly and indirectly,
to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating
decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common control or common
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals (being members of key management personnel,
significant shareholders and / or their close family members) or other entities and include entities which
are under the significant influence of related parties of the Group where those parties are individuals,
and post-employment benefit plans which are for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

(d)

Revenue recognition
(i)

Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when goods are delivered to the customers and the title has passed.

(ii)

Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

(iii)

Dividend
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

(e)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Office equipment and fixtures
Motor vehicles

10 - 30
5 - 20
5
5

years
years
years
years

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the consolidated
income statement based on the net disposal proceeds less the carrying amount of the assets at the
date of disposal.
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For the year ended 31 December 2005

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(f)

(continued)

Construction in progress
Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant and machinery pending
installation, and is stated at cost. No depreciation is made on construction in progress until such time
as the relevant assets are available for use.

(g)

Impairment
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment (if any). If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase.

(h)

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, calculated on the first-in first-out cost basis, comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion,
including direct labour and an appropriate proportion of production overheads, and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less estimated selling
expenses.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of the inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the writedown or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of write-down of inventories, arising from an increase
in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2005

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(i)

(continued)

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
(i)

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in income
statement when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance recognised
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

(ii)

Trade payables
Trade payables are subsequently measured at amoritised cost, using the effective interest rate
method.

(iii)

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

(j)

Foreign currency translation
(i)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which
is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.
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For the year ended 31 December 2005

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(j)

Foreign currency translation
(ii)

(continued)

(continued)

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income
statement.

(iii)

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(k)

(a)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

(b)

income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange
rates; and

(c)

all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

Taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the results for the year ended as adjusted for items which are
non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred taxation is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary
differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. In principle,
deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction which affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled. Deferred taxation is charged or credited to the income statement,
except when it relates to items credited or charged directly to equity, in which case the deferred taxation
is also dealt with in equity.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(l)

(continued)

Intangible assets
(i)

Technical know-how
Expenditure on acquired technical know-how is capitalised and amortised using the straight line
method over the useful lives of five years from the date when the technical know-how is
available for use.

(ii)

Research and development costs
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.
An internally generated intangible asset arising from development expenditure is recognised
only if it is anticipated that the development costs incurred on a clearly defined project will be
recovered through future commercial activity. The resultant asset is amortised on a straight-line
basis over its useful life, which is usually no more than five years.
Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

(m) Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products
or services (business segment), or in providing products economic environment (geographical segment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.
Inter-segment pricing is based on similar terms as those available to other external parties.
Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment. Segment revenue,
expenses, assets and liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group transactions
are eliminated as part of the combination process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances
and transactions are between group enterprises within a single segment.
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that
are expected to be used for more than one period.
Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets, interest-bearing loan, borrowings,
corporate and financing expenses.

(n)

Operating leases
Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets remain with the leasing
party are accounted for as operating leases. Rentals applicable to such operating leases are charged
to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property is classified as an investment property.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(o)

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

(p)

Government grants
Government grant is recognised, when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching with it and that the grant will be received.

(q)

Employee benefits
(i)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution plans and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii)

Equity-settled share-based payments
The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options, the total
estimated fair value of the share options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the options will vest.

(r)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the group or the company
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past events, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group is principally engaged in the research, development, manufacturing and sales of zirconium
compounds, electronic materials, electronic ceramics, new energy materials and rechargeable batteries.
Revenue recognised during the year are as follows:

Turnover

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

425,767

357,218

—
417
1,903
2,320

700
344
1,727
2,771

428,087

359,989

Other revenue
— Government grants received related to technical invention
— Interest income
— Other

Primary reporting format - geographical segments
The Group operates within one geographical segment in the PRC. All segment assets, liabilities and capital
expenditures are located in the PRC and therefore no geographical segments are presented, except for the
segment revenue and segment results. Segment revenue and segment results are presented base on geographical
location of customers.

Secondary reporting format - business segments
The Group’s business is mainly categorised into four business segments:
•

zirconium compounds;

•

electronic materials and electronic ceramics;

•

new energy materials; and

•

rechargeable batteries
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4.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION(continued)
(i)

Primary reporting format - geographical segments
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Japan
RMB’000

The USA
RMB’000

The PRC
RMB’000

The
Netherlands
RMB’000

Others
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

Segment revenue

39,059

108,027

188,241

50,916

39,524

425,767

Segment results

10,262

33,452

43,364

7,055

11,982

106,115

Interest income
Unallocated cost

417
(33,308)

Profit from operations
Finance cost

73,224
(557)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

72,667
(10,781)

Net profit for the year

61,886

For the year ended 31 December 2004

Japan
RMB’000

The USA
RMB’000

The PRC
RMB’000

The
Netherlands
RMB’000

Others
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

Segment revenue

59,926

75,342

152,894

34,371

34,685

357,218

Segment results

12,123

23,500

51,124

6,465

8,946

102,158

Interest income
Unallocated cost

344
(27,620)

Profit from operations
Finance cost

74,882
(114)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

74,768
(10,625)

Net profit for the year

64,143
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4.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION(continued)
(ii)

Secondary reporting format - business segments
For the year ended 31 December 2005
Carrying
amount of
Turnover segment assets
RMB’000
RMB’000

Capital
expenditure
RMB’000

Zirconium compounds
Electronic materials and electronic ceramics
New energy materials
Rechargeable batteries

365,178
1,341
45,439
13,809

243,229
20,562
64,372
50,754

34,130
1,148
1,824
1,847

Unallocated assets

425,767
—

378,917
231,293

38,949
703

425,767

610,210

39,652

Carrying
amount of
Turnover segment assets
RMB’000
RMB’000

Capital
expenditure
RMB’000

For the year ended 31 December 2004

Zirconium compounds
Electronic materials and electronic ceramics
New energy materials
Rechargeable batteries

306,902
785
48,643
888

169,957
18,937
61,635
52,642

28,642
7,158
4,114
26,964

Unallocated assets

357,218
—

303,171
225,112

66,878
78,916

357,218

528,283

145,794
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5.

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
Profit from operations has been arrived at after charging:

Auditors’ remuneration
Costs of inventories recognised as expenses
(excluding write off of inventories)
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Exchange losses
Research and development costs
Operating lease payments
In respect of office premises in Hong Kong
In respect of land use right outside Hong Kong
Write off of inventories
Written off of intangible assets and deferred expenditure
Impairment loss of machinery and equipment
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) (Note 11)

6.

2004
RMB’000

468

603

303,026
13,697
1,000
3,403
3,347

245,304
9,618
1,000
23
4,675

508
1,202
1,543
1,977
2,500
18,534

607
1,162
2,000
—
—
17,124

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

557

114

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on trust receipt loans

7.

2005
RMB’000

TAXATION
The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income statement represents:

Hong Kong profits tax
PRC income tax
— current

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

—

—

10,781

10,625
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7.

TAXATION
(a)

(continued)

No provision for Hong Kong profit tax has been made in the financial statements as the Group had
no assessable profit in Hong Kong for the year (2004: Nil).
Yixing Xinxing Zirconium Company Limited (“Yixing Zirconium”) and Yixing Better Batteries Co., Ltd.
(“Better Batteries”) are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in the PRC, and
therefore subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) at local statutory rate. Pursuant to the relevant
income tax laws in the PRC, Yixing Zirconium and Better Batteries are entitled to income tax exemption
for the first and second profit-making years and a 50% reduction in EIT for the following three years.
Starting from January 2003, the applicable rate of EIT for Yixing Zirconium is 12% (being 50% of the
standard rate for foreign investment enterprises located in coastal open economic regions). As a result,
the provision for EIT is calculated at 12% on the assessable profit for the year. No EIT provision is made
for Better Batteries as it had no assessable profit for the year.

(b)

As the Group’s major operation and income were located in the PRC, the applicable tax rate to the
Group was the tax rate of 12% during the year applicable to the PRC subsidiary as stated in (a) above.
A reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rate is as follows:

Profit before tax
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 12%
Tax effect of expenses / income that are not
deductible / taxable in determining taxable profit
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses
Actual tax expense
(c)

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

72,667

74,768

8,720

8,972

1,914
147

1,388
265

10,781

10,625

At the balance sheet date, the Group had unprovided deferred tax assets which arose from the
followings:
The Group

Tax losses:
Hong Kong
Mainland China

The Company

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

5,532
—

5,385
—

—
—

—
—

5,532

5,385

—

—
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7.

TAXATION
(c)

(continued)

(continued)
Tax losses in Hong Kong are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in entities which have been loss-making for some time or in the directors’
opinion, it is uncertain whether future taxable profits would arise to offset against these losses.
At 31 December 2005, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax liability (2004: Nil) for taxes
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group
has no liability to additional tax should such amounts be remitted.

8.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
The profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company includes a loss of approximately
RMB1,758,000 (2004: RMB2,912,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

9.

DIVIDENDS

Interim, paid
Final, proposed

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

—
17,303

—
17,700

17,303

17,700

At a meeting of the Board held on 10 April 2006, a final dividend of HK3.3 cents (2004: HK3.3 cents) per ordinary
share has been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual
general meeting. This proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in these financial statements, but
will be reflected as an appropriation of reserves for the year ending 31 December 2006.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share
and diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of basic earnings per share

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

61,886

64,143

2005

2004

504,170,946

483,422,414

The diluted earnings per share amount for the two years ended 31 December 2005 and 2004 has not been
shown as there were no dillutive potential ordinary shares existed during the years.
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11. STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

Wages and salaries
Retirement benefit costs
Other social welfare costs

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

17,187
1,010
337

15,129
1,057
938

18,534

17,124

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS
(a)

The remuneration of individual directors is set out below:

Fees
RMB’000

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind
RMB’000

Pension
scheme
contributions
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

2005
Executive directors:
Mr. Yang Xin Min
Mr. Li Fu Ping
Ms. Huang Yue Qin
Mr. Zhou Quan

—
—
—
—

1,820
174
460
174

5
2
2
2

1,825
176
462
176

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Shi You Chun
Mr. Guo Jing Mao
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary

60
60
73

—
—
—

—
—
—

60
60
73

193

2,628

11

2,832
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(a)

The remuneration of individual directors is set out below:

2004
Executive directors:
Mr. Yang Xin Min
Mr. Li Fu Ping
Ms. Huang Yue Qin
Mr. Zhou Quan
Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Shi You Chun
Mr. Guo Jing Mao
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary

(continued)

Fees
RMB’000

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind
RMB’000

Pension
scheme
contributions
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

—
—
—
—

1,800
152
437
152

7
3
3
3

1,807
155
440
155

18
117
74

—
—
—

—
—
—

18
117
74

209

2,541

16

2,766

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year. No directors have waived any remuneration during the years.

(b)

Employees’ remuneration
The five highest paid individuals during the year included four directors (2004: three directors), details
of whose remuneration are set out in 12(a) above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one
(2004: two) highest paid individual for the year, which fell within the “Nil to RMB1,000,000” band,
are as follows:
The Group

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Bonuses paid and payable
Pension scheme contributions

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

562
47
12

568
29
13

621

610
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Group

Buildings
RMB’000

Machinery
and
equipment
RMB’000

Office
equipment
and fixtures
RMB’000

42,595
6,956
8,767

60,063
105,184
143

842
572
—

2,412
—
—

6,339
33,082
(8,910)

112,251
145,794
—

At 31 December 2004 and
at 1 January 2005
Additions
Transfers
Exchange difference

58,318
887
39,005
—

165,390
18,697
—
—

1,414
47
—
(22)

2,412
466
—
—

30,511
19,555
(39,005)
2

258,045
39,652
—
(20)

At 31 December 2005

98,210

184,087

1,439

2,878

11,063

297,677

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
As at 1 January 2004
Charge for the year

8,904
1,981

16,159
6,958

566
211

466
468

—
—

26,095
9,618

At 31 December 2004 and
at 1 January 2005
Charge for the year
Impairment loss
Exchange difference

10,885
3,367
—
—

23,117
9,544
2,500
—

777
277
—
(18)

934
509
—
—

—
—
—
—

35,713
13,697
2,500
(18)

At 31 December 2005

14,252

35,161

1,036

1,443

—

51,892

Net book value
At 31 December 2005

83,958

148,926

403

1,435

11,063

245,785

At 31 December 2004

47,433

142,273

637

1,478

30,511

222,332

Cost
As at 1 January 2004
Additions
Transfers

Motor Construction
vehicles
in progress
RMB’000
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

The property ownership certificates of certain buildings related with a thermal power plant as referred in note
26(c) were not yet updated as at the balance sheet date. The net book value of these buildings at 31 December
2005 was approximately RMB4.5 million.
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14. LAND USE RIGHTS
The Group’s land use rights comprise:
The Group

Land located outside Hong Kong under
medium-term lease

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

54,946

56,148

The land use right certificate of a parcel of land associated with a thermal power plant as referred in note
26(c) was not yet updated as at the balance sheet date. The total prepaid operating lease payments for this
parcel of land at 31 December 2005 amounted to RMB5.7 million.

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Technical know-how
The Group
2005
RMB’000
Cost
At 1 January
Write off during the year

2004
RMB’000

5,000
(800)

5,000
—

4,200

5,000

1,500
1,000
(400)

500
1,000
—

At 31 December

2,100

1,500

Net book value
At 31 December

2,100

3,500

At 31 December
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January
Charge for the year
Write back during the year
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16. PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS
The Group

Prepayment for acquisition of land use rights
Deposits for purchase of machineries

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000
(Restated)

7,220
8,031

—
14,512

15,251

14,512

17. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
The Company

Unlisted shares
Amounts due from subsidiaries

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

31,836
137,797

31,836
70,679

169,633

102,515

The carrying value of the unlisted shares is based on the underlying net tangible assets of the subsidiaries
at the time when they became members of the Group.
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and the Company will not demand
for repayment from respective subsidiaries within the next twelve months from the balance sheet date.
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17. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

Place and date of
incorporation /
establishment

Name

Issued and fully
paid share capital or
registered capital

Proportion of nominal
value of issued
capital / registered capital Principal activities and
held by the Group
place of operation
Direct
holding

Indirect
holding

100%

—

Kingweston Technology
Limited (“Kingweston”)

British Virgin Islands US$2,500,000
6 January 2000

Yixing Xinxing Zirconium
Company Limited
(“Yixing Zirconium”)
(Note)

The People’s
Republic of China
7 June 2000

US$10,500,000

—

100%

Research, development,
manufacturing and sales of
zirconium compounds,
electronic materials,
electronic ceramics and new
energy materials
in the PRC

Century Dragon
Investment Limited
(“Century Dragon”)

Hong Kong
5 June 2000

HK$15,000,000
(2004: HK$100)

—

100%

Leasing of the Group’s office
premises in Hong Kong,
provision of administrative
services and general
trading in Hong Kong

Yixing Better Batteries
Co., Ltd.
(“Better Batteries”) (Note)

The People’s
Republic of China
5 January 2004

US$1,200,000

—

100%

Research, development,
manufacturing and sales
of batteries

Note:

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Yixing Zirconium and Better Batteries are foreign investment enterprises with an operating period of 30 years
commencing on 7 June 2000 and on 5 January 2004, respectively.

18. INVENTORIES
The Group

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

38,083
4,370
23,268

9,175
7,326
15,515

65,721

32,016
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES
The aging analysis of trade receivables after provision for bad and doubtful debts is as follows:
The Group

0 - 90 days
91 - 180 days
181 - 365 days
More than 1 year

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

40,074
710
1,322
358

32,723
4,362
—
—

42,464

37,085

Normally 30 to 60 days credit term is granted to local customers in the PRC and 60 to 90 days credit term
is granted to overseas customers.

20. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
The Group

Due from a director (Note (a))
Due from a subsidiary (Note (b))
Prepayments and other receivables
Dividend income receivable

(a)

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000
(Restated)

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

—
—
43,723
—

—
—
45,290
—

—
11,472
234
14,574

327
92,927
194
14,894

43,723

45,290

26,280

108,342

Particulars of the amount due from a director, disclosed pursuant to Section 161B of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

Name of director
Mr. Yang Xin Min

(b)

The Company

Interest rate

Terms

Security

Balance at
1.1.2005
RMB’000

Nil

Repayable
on demand

Nil

327

Maximum Balance at
balance 31.12.2005
RMB’000
RMB’000
327

Nil

The amount due is non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and callable on demand.
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21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
The Group
2005
2004
RMB’000
RMB’000
Cash on hand
Cash in banks

211
140,009

4,672
109,890

140,220

114,562

As at 31 December 2005, approximately RMB48,547,000 (2004: RMB25,673,000) of the Group’s cash and
bank balances were denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and kept in the PRC. The conversion and remittance
of Renminbi denominated balances into foreign currencies is subject to rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
The directors consider the cash and bank balances approximates its fair value.

22. TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES
Aging analysis of trade and bill payables is as follows:
The Group
2005
2004
RMB’000
RMB’000
(Restated)
0 - 90 days
91 - 180 days
181 - 365 days
More than 1 year

37,882
266
1,163
2,214

8,432
418
707
1,208

41,525

10,765

Bill payables represent trust receipt loans from bank. The amount of bill payables as at 31 December 2005
is approximately RMB26,525,000 (2004: Nil). The effective interest rate is around 6.1% (2004: Nil) during
the year, and the amount is repayable within one year.

23. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
The Group
2005
2004
RMB’000
RMB’000
Due to a related company (Note (a))
Due to directors (Note (a))
Due to other related party (Note (a))
Salary and welfare payables
Value added tax payable
Accruals and other payables

(a)

The Company
2005
2004
RMB’000
RMB’000

1,138
3,341
489
15,622
1,758
20,374

1,138
5,191
—
14,877
3,324
13,413

—
263
489
—
—
475

—
61
—
—
—
722

42,722

37,943

1,227

783

The amounts due are non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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24. SHARE CAPITAL
Number of shares
2005

Ordinary share capital

2004

2005

2004

HK$

RMB

HK$

RMB

100,000,000

106,000,000

100,000,000

106,000,000

Ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each:
Authorised:
Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of year
Issue of shares upon placing
Issue of shares upon
acquisition of a thermal
power plant
Exercise of share options
At end of year

1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000

504,170,946
—

400,000,000
47,000,000

50,417,095
—

53,528,821
—

40,000,000
4,700,000

42,449,700
4,998,928

—
—

55,170,946
2,000,000

—
—

—
—

5,517,095
200,000

5,867,992
212,201

504,170,946

504,170,946

50,417,095

53,528,821

50,417,095

53,528,821

Details of changes in the share capital of the Company in previous year are as follows:
(a)

Pursuant to a placing agreement dated 3 February 2004 entered into between Mr. Yang Xin Min
(“Mr. Yang”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, and a placing agent, 47,000,000 existing
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the Company were placed to independent investors at a price of
HK$1.17 per share. Upon completion of the placement of shares and pursuant to a subscription
agreement entered into between the Company and Mr. Yang, Mr. Yang subscribed for 47,000,000 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the Company at a price of HK$1.17 per share.

(b)

On 13 February 2004, Yixing Zirconium, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into an
acquisition agreement (the “Agreement”) with Jiangsu Xinxing Chemicals Group Corporation
(“Xinxing Chemicals Group”), a privately-owned enterprise wholly owned by Mr. Yang Xin Min, a
substantial shareholder and director of the Company. Pursuant to the Agreement, Yixing Zirconium
agreed to acquire the electricity and steam generating plant and related facilities from Xinxing
Chemicals Group at the consideration of approximately RMB77,780,000, which was satisfied by the
issue of the 55,170,946 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company to Mr. Yang Xin Min.

(c)

During the year 2004, 2,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company were issued at
HK$0.87 per share as a result of the exercise of share options of the Company.
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25. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group

Contracted but not provided for
— purchases of plant and machineries
— construction in progress

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

3,967
9,051

5,637
4,285

26. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transaction and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, during the year,
in the normal course of business, the Group entered into significant transactions with its related parties as
summarised below:
The Group

Electricity supply from a related company
Steam supply from a related company
Water supply from a related party
Purchase of a thermal power plant from
a related company

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

(a)
(a)
(b)

—
—
2,131

2,306
4,351
2,116

(c)

—

77,780

(a)

Yixing Zirconium and Jiangsu Xinxing Chemicals Group Corporation (“Xinxing Chemicals Group”), a
privately-owned enterprise wholly owned by Mr. Yang Xin Min who is the substantial shareholder and
director of the Company, has entered into an electricity and steam supply agreement dated 1 September
2000 and two supplemental agreements. Pursuant to these agreements, the supply of electricity and
steam are conducted on commercial terms in the normal course of business of the related company.
No electricity charge and steam fee paid to the related company for the year ended 31 December 2005
as the Power Plant was an integral part of Yixing Zirconium during the year.

(b)

Water was supplied by Yixing City Xushe Water Supply Plant (“the Water Plant”), a collectively-owned
enterprise in Xushe Town of Yixing City, to Yixing Zirconium, for manufacturing purposes. Purchase
of water was conducted in the normal course of business at prices and terms similar to those charged
to and contracted with other customers of the Water Plant. The Water Plant is a related party to the
extent that Ms. Bao Xi Mei (being the spouse of Mr. Yang Xin Min), is the legal representative of the
Water Plant.
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26. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
(c)

(continued)

Yixing Zirconium entered into an acquisition agreement with Yixing Chemicals Group on 13 February
2004 to acquire a thermal power plant and the related facilities (“Power Plant”) at a consideration
of approximately RMB77,780,000, based on the valuation by an independent certified valuer. The
consideration was satisfied by the issue of 55,170,946 ordinary shares by the Company to Mr. Yang
Xin Min.
The acquisition was conducted in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group. As the
acquisition will reduce production cost, ensure stable and continuous electricity and steam supply to
the Group’s production facilities, thus enhancing the Group’s earning capacity in the long run, the
directors and independent non-executive directors considered that the transaction was fair and reasonable
and in the interest of the Group. Details of the acquisition agreement were set out in the Group’s press
announcement dated 17 February 2004 and circular dated 10 March 2004.

(d)

Pursuant to a trademark licensing agreement dated 12 July 2000 entered into between Yixing Zirconium
and a related company, the latter has agreed to grant an exclusive license to the former or the Group
to use the “Long Jing” trademarks in the PRC, the USA and Japan respectively, during their respective
legally valid periods at nil consideration.

(e)

The key management personnel compensation paid by the Group during the year is disclosed in note
12 to the financial statements.

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and bank balances, trade receivables, and trade and
bill payables.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk management. The
Group has not used any derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold
or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The directors review and agree policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised as follows:

(i)

Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through currency exposures in sales and
purchases that are denominated in United States Dollars (“USD”) with respect of RMB which is the
Group’s functional currency. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities. The Company has not hedged its foreign currency exposure.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

(ii)

Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. Management has policies in place
to ensure that the sales of products are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
At the balance sheet date, the Group has a certain concentration of credit risk as 9% (2004: 10%)
and 52% (2004: 40%) of total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset, including trade receivables in the consolidated balance sheet. Except for the corporate guarantee
given by the Company in respect of banking facilities granted to a subsidiary as disclosed in note 28,
the Group does not provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

(iii) Liquidity risk
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investments of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the parent Company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities at 31 December 2005 (2004: Nil).
At 31 December 2005, the Company had provided corporate guarantee to the extent of approximately
RMB31 million (2004: RMB31 million) for banking facilities granted to a subsidiary. At balance sheet date,
the amount of banking facilities utilised by the subsidiary is RMB26,525,000 (2004: Nil)

29. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At 31 December 2005, the Group has outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Within one year
After one year but within five years

2005
RMB’000

2004
RMB’000

7,427
—

433
253

7,427

686

30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
In addition to the participation in the MPF Scheme, the Group is required to contribute to a defined
contribution retirement scheme for its employees in the PRC based on the applicable basis and rates with
the relevant government regulations.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Share options
Pursuant to the written resolution by the shareholders of the Company on 24 September 2002, the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved and adopted and, the Board may, at its discretion, grant options
(the “Options”) to any Director (whether executive or non-executive and whether independent or not), any
employee (whether full-time or part-time), any consultant or adviser of or to the Company or the Group
(whether on an employment or contractual or honorary basis and whether paid or unpaid). The Scheme will
expire on 23 September 2012.
Details of outstanding share options which have been granted under the Scheme at the beginning and at
the end of the year ended 31 December 2004 were as follows:
Number of share options

Date of
Grant
Employee

Exercise
Period

1 November 1 May 2003 to
2002 13 August 2004

Subscription
Price
Per Share

Outstanding
as at
1 January
2004

Granted
during
the Year

HK$0.87

2,000,000

—

Outstanding
Exercised
as at
during 31 Deecember
the Year
2004
2,000,000

—

For the Option exercised during the year ended 31 December 2004, the weighted average share price at the
date of exercise is HK$1.11 per share at the date of exercise. No Option was outstanding as at 31 December
2005 and no option was granted during the year then ended.

Acquisition of a thermal power plant
The Group has acquired a Power Plant from a related party during the year ended 31 December 2004 by
allotting 55,170,946 ordinary shares of the C ompany to Mr. Yang Xin Min. The Power Plant’s fair value of
approximately RMB77,780,000 was based on the valuation by an independent certified valuer. Details of this
equity-settled share-based transaction are disclosed in note 26(c) to the financial statements.

Asia Zirconium Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2005

32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.

(i)

Critical accounting estimate on depreciation charges
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for
its property, plant and equipment (note 13). The estimate is based on projected lifecycles for its
property, plant and equipment. It could change significantly as a result of technical innovations in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives
are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or nonstrategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(ii)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
The titles of certain buildings and a parcel of land related to a thermal power plant acquired from
a related party as referred in note 26(c) were not transferred to the Group as at 31 December 2005.
Despite the fact that the Group has not obtained the relevant legal titles, the Group’s management
determine to recognise those buildings and prepaid lease payments as property, plant and equipment
and land use right, respectively, on the grounds that they expect the transfer of legal titles in future
should have no major difficulties and the Group is in substance controlling those buildings and that
parcel of land.
The carrying value of the relevant buildings and prepaid lease payment for the land as at 31 December
2005 were RMB4.5 million and RMB5.7 million, respectively.

33. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The changes
include the reclassification of certain deposits paid by the Group previously classified under prepayments and
other receivables to non-current prepayments and deposits (note 16), and the resultant changes to the
consolidated cash flow statements. The new classification of the above items is considered a more appropriate
presentation of the state of affairs of the Group.

34. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 10 April 2006.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general meeting (the “Annual General Meeting”) of the Company will
be held at Office 3509, 35th Floor, Tower II, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong on Friday, 19 May 2006 at
3:00 p.m. for the following purposes:
1.

To receive and adopt the audited financial statements of the Company and the reports of the directors and
the auditors for the year ended 31 December 2005.

2.

To declare a final dividend.

3.

(a)

To re-elect Mr. Yang Xin Min as a director of the Company.

(b)

To re-elect Mr. Li Fu Ping as a director of the Company.

(c)

To authorise the board of directors to fix the directors’ remuneration.

4.

To re-appoint auditors and to authorise the board of directors to fix their remuneration.

5.

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without amendments the following resolutions
as Ordinary Resolutions;
A.

“THAT,
(i)

subject to sub-paragraph (iii) of this Resolution, the exercise by the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) during the Relevant Period (as defined below) of all the powers of the Company
to allot, issue and deal with new shares in the capital of the Company, and to make or grant
offers, agreements and options which might require the exercise of such power be and is hereby
generally and unconditionally approved;

(ii)

the approval in sub-paragraph (i) of this Resolution shall authorise the Directors during the
Relevant Period to make or grant offers, agreements and options which would or might require
the exercise of such power after the end of the Relevant Period;

(iii)

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) and issued by the Directors pursuant
to the approval in sub-paragraph (i) of this Resolution, shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of passing of this
Resolution and the said approval shall be limited accordingly, otherwise than pursuant to the
following:
(a)

a Rights Issue (as defined below);

(b)

any shares issued pursuant to the exercise of rights of subscription or conversion under
the terms of any warrants or any debentures, bond warrants, notes issued by the
Company or any securities which are convertible into shares of the Company;

(c)

any share options granted or exercised pursuant to any option scheme or, any option
scheme or similar arrangement for the time being adopted for the grant or issue to
officers and / or employees of the Company and / or any of its subsidiaries of shares
or rights to acquire shares of the Company; and
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(d)

(iv)

any scrip dividend or similar arrangement providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of
the whole or part of a dividend on shares of the Company in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company; and

for the purposes of this Resolution:
“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this Resolution until whichever is the
earliest of:
(a)

the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(b)

the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by the articles of association of the Company or any applicable laws
to be held; or

(c)

the passing of an ordinary resolution by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting revoking or varying the authority given to the Directors; and

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares, open for a period fixed by the Directors to shareholders
of the Company on the register on a fixed record date in proportion to their then holdings of
such new shares (subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors of the
Company may deem necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or having regard
to any restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of any recognised
regulatory body or any stock exchange in any territory outside Hong Kong).”
B.

“THAT,
(i)

subject to sub-paragraph (ii) of this Resolution, the exercise by the Directors during the Relevant
Period (as defined below) of all the powers of the Company to repurchase its shares in the capital
of the Company, subject to and in accordance with all applicable laws and the requirements of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as
amended from time to time, be and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(ii)

the aggregate nominal amount of shares of the Company which may be repurchased by the
Company pursuant to the approval in sub-paragraph (i) of this Resolution, shall not exceed 10%
of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue on the date of
passing of this Resolution and the said approval shall be limited accordingly; and

(iii)

for the purposes of this Resolution:
“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this Resolution until whichever is the
earliest of:
(a)

the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;
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C.

6.

(b)

the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by the articles of association of the Company or any applicable laws
to be held; or

(c)

the passing of an ordinary resolution by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting revoking or varying the authority given to the Directors.”

“THAT, the general mandate granted to the Directors to issue and dispose of additional shares pursuant
to Ordinary Resolution No. 5A set out in the notice convening this meeting be and is hereby extended
by the addition thereto of an amount representing the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital
of the Company repurchased by the Company under the authority granted pursuant to Ordinary
Resolution No. 5B set out in the notice convening this meeting, provided that such amount shall not
exceed 10% of the aggregate nominal amount of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of passing of the said Resolution.”

As special business, to consider and if thought fit, pass the following resolutions as Special Resolutions:“THAT, the articles of association of the Company be and are amended in the following manner:A.

(a)

By inserting the words “voting by way of a poll is required by the rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange or” immediately after the words “A resolution put to the vote of a meeting shall be
decided on a show of hands unless” in the first paragraph of the existing article 66;

(b)

By replacing the full-stop at the end of the existing article 66(d) with a semi-colon;

(c)

By inserting the word “or” at the end of the existing article 66(d); and

(d)

By adding the following paragraph as article 66(e) immediately after article 66(d):“(e)

by any Director or Directors who, individually or collectively, hold proxies in respect of
shares representing five per cent (5%) or more of the total voting rights at such
meeting.”.

B.

By deleting the sentence “There shall be no requirement for the chairman to disclose the voting figures
on a poll.” in the existing article 68 in its entirety and substituting thereof with a new sentence “The
Company shall only be required to disclose the voting figures on a poll if such disclosure is required
by the rules of the Designated Stock Exchange.”.

C.

By inserting the following words “, if more than one person is so authorised,” immediately after the
words “If a clearing house (or its nominee(s)), being a corporation, is a Member, it may authorise such
persons as it thinks fit to act as its representatives at any meeting of the Company or at any meeting
of any class of Members provided that” in the existing article 84(2).
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D.

By deleting the word “annual” immediately after the words “Any Director so appointed by the Board
shall hold office only until the next following” in the last sentence of article 86(3);

E.

By deleting the words “special resolution” in article 86(5) and replacing therewith the words “ordinary
resolution”; and

F.

(a)

By deleting article 87(1) in its entirety and substituting thereof with the following:
“87. (1) Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three (3) or a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third), shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.”; and

(b)

7.

By deleting the first sentence “A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.” in the existing
article 87(2) and substituting thereof with a new sentence “A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he
retires.””

To deal with other ordinary businesses of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Li Mei Kuen
Company Secretary
Hong Kong, 10 April 2006
Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong:
Office 3509, 35th Floor
Tower II, Lippo Centre
89 Queensway
Hong Kong
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Notes:
1.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 17 May 2006 to 19 May 2006, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and to attend
the Annual General Meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Branch Registrar in Hong Kong, Tengis Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 16 May 2006.

2.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting convened by the above notice is entitled to appoint one or more
proxies to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.

In order to be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which
it is signed, or a copy of such authority notarially certified, must be deposited at the Company’s branch share registrars
not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

4.

An explanatory statement containing further information on the above Resolution 5B will be despatched to the shareholders
together with 2005 Annual Report.

